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Strategic Report
for the year ended 31 July 2016

Scope of the financial statements

The financial statements, presented to the University Council, 
have been prepared on a consolidated basis and include the 
results of Lancaster University and its subsidiary companies.  
Details of the group are listed within note 26.

Objectives and strategy

Strategic Plan 
The University has continued to progress against its Strategic 
Plan for the period to 2020.  The strategy is based on three 
priorities – research, teaching and engagement - and four 
underpinning dimensions to provide a platform for delivery, 
these being ‘the best staff’, ‘an international university’, ‘ensuring 
sustainability’ and ‘creating a great place to study and work’.  
Our vision is to become a university that is globally significant 
– a leader in higher education that provides the highest quality 
research and teaching and engages locally and internationally 
on the issues and debates of the day and future.  Driven by 
research, and stimulating learning, the globally significant 
university informs and changes practice and thinking worldwide.  
Progress is being actively monitored through the academic 
resource allocation and planning process, with regular updates 
to key governing bodies such as the Senate and the Council.  

In the context of significant change in the external environment 
and policy context since the Strategy was set, during 2016 the 
Council has discussed further opportunities for student growth 
in the period to 2024/25.  These plans will be fully developed 
during 2016/17, alongside considerations of associated 
revenue costs, supporting infrastructure and financing options.

Financial strategy 
The University’s financial strategy underpins our planning 
and has continued to serve us well.  The 2015/16 accounts 
reflect the first year of transition to the new Higher Education 
Statement of Recommended Practice, with adjusted 
comparative figures for 2014/15.   Whilst the changes are 
largely presentational and do not affect the underlying business 
of the University, we have been working with stakeholders 
to ensure that they are understood and that our future key 
performance indicators and metrics remain appropriate.
This will mean that some reported measures will be more 
volatile than previously, mainly due to earlier income recognition. 

Our approach has several key components:  

(i)  the need to generate sufficient cashflow to support 
sustainable capital investment and reinvestment (primarily 
in the estate, but also covering IT and equipment needs).  
Recognising that access to limited external sources of 
investment is increasingly competitive, the level of surplus, 
the cash generation it provides and our ability to invest in 
capital infrastructure remain key measures of success.  

(ii)  Sufficient liquidity both to manage our resilience to adverse 
events and also to provide headroom to take advantage of 
opportunities to support progress towards strategic goals.

(iii)  Management of the cost base, specifically the proportion of 
staff costs to total income and expenditure.

(iv)  Monitoring appropriate and affordable external borrowing 
levels, with attention to both gearing and our net debt 
position.

Financial performance for the year

The underlying financial performance in 2015/16 reflects 
another strong year for the University in the context of a 
competitive and changing Higher Education sector.  The 
analysis below seeks to explain the main changes from the 
transition to the new accounting standards and to pull out 
relevant trend data as far as that is possible. The figures 
referenced throughout this review are the consolidated results 
of the University and all subsidiary companies.

The reported surplus for the year is £11.3M, 4.2% of total 
income.  Under the new HE SORP there are several headline 
changes:

(i)  We have taken the opportunity to professionally revalue 
the estate at a detailed building by building basis.  This 
exercise considered the remaining lifetime of all assets and 
compared this with the net book value.  The consequence 
of this is asset values have increased by £69.1M, but 
depreciation will be spread over a longer period for some 
assets.  The net effect is for depreciation to reduce by ca. 
£1.8M, increasing reported surplus by the same amount. 

(ii)  The recognition of any capital grants received for building 
and equipment has changed such that they are no longer 
deferred and released over the life of the asset that they 
fund.  Instead they are recognised as income as soon as 
any obligations have been discharged.  As this is usually the 
completion of the building or purchase of the equipment, 
this will mean earlier recognition of income.  Due to high 
values of such grants in 2015/16, this means an increase to 
surplus of £3.4M.

(iii)  The non-cash pension charges in respect of the Universities 
Superannuation Scheme appears in the accounts for the 
first time.  These reduce the reported surplus by £3.8M.

(iv)  A holiday pay accrual adjustment to reflect a liability for 
untaken holiday leave at 31 July has also been calculated 
and tested against the prior year allowance.  This reduces 
surplus by £0.6M. 

(v)  In addition, there are changes to reporting for the 
Universities Partnership Programme (UPP) service 
concession arrangement for the majority of campus 
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student accommodation.  This increases both income and 
expenditure by £20.2M to reflect the collection of rents and 
their passing over to UPP, but has no effect on surplus.  This 
does distort some of the measures that we track against 
gross income and expenditure so, where appropriate, we 
have adjusted the prior years’ figures to allow for trends to 
be considered on a comparable basis.

As in previous years we reflect the non-cash charges in respect 
of the Lancashire County Pension Fund (LCPF), although these 
have increased substantially in 2015/16 to £3.2M (2014/15 
£900k).  We also released a provision held against the Research 
Expenditure Development Credit (RDEC) income reported 
previously (£1.4M net of tax) as HMRC have completed their 
review of claims made for that period.

The underlying operating surplus for the University is as 
follows:

 

Other key highlights are as follows:

•  Overall income growth of 4.6% reflecting robust tuition fee 
income growth of 8.7%.   Excluding the effect of capital grants, 
research grant income has also increased by 7.8% year on 
year.

•  Strong underlying earnings as measured by Earnings Before 
Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) at 
£39.0M (2014/15: £39.3M) using the HEFCE definition for the 
sector. 

•  Liquidity was maintained at year-end, with a current asset 
ratio of 1.4.  The full £35M of our Revolving Credit Facility with 
Santander was drawn at year-end.

•  We have continued to pay close attention to underlying costs 
whilst prioritising targeted academic growth to support and 
accelerate progress towards the University’s Strategic Plan 
ambitions.  This has been supported by the academic planning 
and resource allocation process, in which the Faculty Deans 
have played an increasingly key role.  Excluding restructuring 
and non-cash pension charges, staff costs increased by 
6.5%, and excluding the effect of the UPP transaction flowing 
through our accounts, as a proportion of expenditure rose 
slightly to 56.7% (from 56.2 % in 2014/15), but remained well 
within our internal 60% threshold.

•  Following a peak year of expenditure in our capital programme 
cycle in 2014/15, (£50.2M), 2015/16 spend fell back to  
ca. £34.5M as a number of key projects had reached 
conclusion and others remained in the planning phase.  A full 
10 year estates masterplanning exercise was initiated during 
the year to support the University Strategic plan ambitions.  
This is being further developed in the light of the Council’s 
discussions about potential further growth.  During the year, 
the University took the opportunity to acquire an adjacent site 
of 174 acres, including the Forrest Hills complex, incorporating 
leisure facilities and a small conferencing and events centre.  
The site is a strategic addition to the campus estate.

•  Our credit rating from Standard and Poor’s was subjected to 
annual review in March 2016.  In the context of a changing 
policy environment and the competitive Higher Education 
sector we were very pleased to achieve an upgrade to ‘AA’ 
from ‘AA-‘. The accompanying report referenced Lancaster’s 
‘strong, and still strengthening, student demand levels, 
underpinned by its high academic standing and robust 
financial performance and management.  We believe that 
Lancaster’s strong business model and its internationalisation 
strategy have further diversified and strengthened its financial 
standing’.  The report also highlighted Lancaster’s investment 
in new buildings and attractive campus as strong drivers of 
student demand.  The Standard and Poor’s methodology also 
references the outlook for the UK and, specifically, the ability 
of the government to stand behind the sector.  Following the 
result of the EU referendum in June 2016, the long term rating 
of the UK moved down from ‘AAA’ to ‘AA’.  As a consequence 
Standard and Poor’s reviewed their ratings for all sectors 
and the Lancaster rating was moved back to ‘AA-‘.   All four of 
their public Higher Education ratings were similarly affected.  
Nonetheless the underlying message from their review this 
year was a positive one for Lancaster.

  £000 £000

Reported surplus for the year  11,333

Changes benefitting the surplus above:  
Asset revaluation, including review of asset  1,802 
lives (new SORP)
Capital grant accounting (new SORP)  3,431
Release of prior year RDEC provision  1,424

TOTAL   -6,657

Changes reducing the surplus above:
Non-cash pension adjustment USS  -3,821 
(new SORP)
Non-cash pension adjustment LCPF -3,232
Other including holiday pay accrual  -757 
(new SORP)

TOTAL   7,810

Net adjustment to give underlying surplus   1,153

Underlying surplus for the year   12,486

Underlying surplus for the year   4.7%
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Detailed analysis of results for the year

In 2015/16, the University continued to chart a steady course 
whilst focussed on its longer term goals.  The opportunities 
afforded by the changing tuition fee regime and the University’s 
overall strength have facilitated significant investment in academic 
areas.  During the year investment in academic staffing was 
prioritised and, following the University’s 50th anniversary in 2014, 
the first tranche of a cohort of 50th Anniversary lectureships came 
into post.  This scheme is designed to attract academic leaders 
of the future with the capacity to provide outstanding academic 
contribution to the University.  Lancaster also established new 
Research Institute structures, designed to enable critical mass in 
areas of multi-disciplinary research strength, enabling a strategic 
response to research concentration.  

The University has remained committed to its relationships with 
selected overseas institutions alongside open market student 
recruitment.  There are now around 6,500 students undertaking 
primarily undergraduate programmes of study at these main 
partners.  The University has mature relationships with Sunway 
University College in Malaysia, GD Goenka World Institute in India 
and COMSATS in Pakistan and a newer branch campus in Ghana 
which has progressed successfully since its launch in 2013.  
During the year the University approved the establishment of a joint 
institute in China with the highly-ranked Beijing Jiaotong University 
based at their Weihai campus.  With the assistance of our partner 
University, appropriate regulatory approvals were secured and the 
first students registered at Lancaster University College – Beijing 
Jiaotong University in September 2016.  Recruitment has been 
closely in line with expectations, and has attracted high quality 
students as expected.  This is a significant step in support of our 
Strategic Plan objective for global significance.

Whilst bringing some challenges, these relationships aim 
to provide the benefit of income diversification and brand 
profile.  They provide opportunities for international exchange, 
curriculum enhancement and for further internationalisation 
of the Lancaster experience for domestic students through 
summer schools.  All these are increasingly important as 
tools to ensure the employability of our students remains first 
class.  On the Lancaster campus, the Lancaster University 
International Study Centre run by Study Group International 
provides a steady stream of students converting to 
undergraduate courses at Lancaster on completion of their 
foundation year. In aggregate, overseas fee income from all 
sources increased by ca. 9.5% against a backdrop of increased 
global competition and tightening visa regulations.

The competitive environment for student recruitment and 
relaxing of student number controls continues to bring 
challenges and uncertainties as patterns of behaviour from 
both students and other institutions change.  The University’s 
ability to innovate and respond has stood it in good stead 
throughout the transition to date and the position for 2016 
entry is robust.

Research is a key focus of the University’s strategic plan and the 
steps put in place over the past couple of years (including new 
academic staff, anniversary lectureships and research institutes) 
have been positioned to drive Lancaster’s performance 
further in this area.  The result in the 2014 Research Excellence 
Framework confirmed the University’s high standing, being 
ranked 13th for world leading research and preparations are well 
underway for the next exercise, expected to be in 2020.  This 
has been an excellent platform from which to leverage further 
performance.  At headline income level for research grants and 
contracts, 2015/16 reported income shows a 7.8% increase.  
This only reflects the actual delivery of grants in place during 
the financial year.  The underlying applications and awards data 
indicates a much steeper trajectory, with research grant awards 
in 2015/16 running at 40% higher than the prior year with a 
record number of grants submitted.  This will flow through to 
future years financial reporting as grants become live at a faster 
rate than those concluding.

A number of charts are shown below to provide analysis of the 
2015/16 result and recent trends.  We have adjusted prior year 
figures to ensure that they are comparable with the new SORP 
reporting.

 

Strategic Report (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016
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Key performance indicators

Figure 1 shows the composition of income for the year and prior 
years.

Fig. 1: Total Income 

 

The bulk of income is now from tuition fees and further analysis 
of this is given in Figure 2.  Within Funding Council grants, the 
HEFCE grant for teaching was ca. £5.3M in 2015/16, now 
representing just 2.0% of total income.  The research grant 
element at £18.9M represents ca. 7.1% of total income.

Figure 2 shows the change in tuition fee income by category 
over time.

Fig. 2: Tuition Fee Income
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Figure 3 shows the mix of research grant income by funder on 
a consistent basis.  Significant capital grants were received in 
2015/16 (£2.7M) and 2014/15 (£6.4M) and the underlying trend 
for recurrent grants has also been sharply upwards over the 
past two years.

Fig. 3: Research Grants

Fig. 4: Total Expenditure 

Underlying expenditure (excluding non-cash pension changes 
and impairments) increased from £234.2M to £248.5M. Total 
expenditure increased from £250.3M to £255.5M with the 
year-on-year picture shown below. Costs increased to reflect 
the growing income and size of the University.  Further details 
are given on staff costs increases opposite. Other operating 
expenditure increased by 5.0%, reflecting additional resource 
allocations to academic areas, non-faculty income related 
increases elsewhere and other targeted budget allocations 
released under the oversight of the University Planning and 
Resources Group including additional scholarships and 
bursaries.

Strategic Report (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016
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Fig. 5: Cash Generation & EBITDA 

 

To separate underlying earnings from working capital 
movements, we track EBITDA, (earnings before interest, taxation, 
depreciation and amortisation) as well as operating cash 
generation as key performance indicators.  The primary measure, 
EBITDA has remained constant over the last two years at ca. 
£39M whilst cash inflow fell back to £33.4M due to changes 
in working capital. Both measures are in line with our strategy 
to ensure that the University is financially sustainable and can 
support investment in its infrastructure at an appropriate level. 

Fig. 6: Staff cost changes and payroll costs as a percentage 
of total income

 

Full-time equivalent staff numbers increased by 5.7% reflecting 
investment in academic growth and supporting infrastructure 
in line with the University’s strategic plan. Staff costs increased 
by ca. 6.5% to £130.5M in the year (excluding restructuring and 
non-cash pension charges).  This compares to a 6.2% growth 
last year.  This chart reflects the recent changes and constraints 
on overall payroll growth for the University over the period.  It 
shows the changing proportions between national and pay 
scale structural increases together with increased pension costs 
including those from auto-enrolment.  These are classified as 
underlying.  Costs we can directly influence on an annual basis, 
reflecting overall staffing numbers, are shown as variable.

In 2015/16 the underlying increase in staff costs from pay 
award, incremental drift and pensions costs was ca. 3.3%, 
broadly consistent with the prior year.  This reflected a lower 
national pay award effective from August 2015 at 1% compared 
with 2% for the prior year but offset by additional pensions and 
national insurance costs effective from April 2016.  At the time 
of writing the national pay award effective from 1 August 2016 
is not yet agreed.

The variable component in 2015/16 reflects staff number 
increases consistent with the previous year.  Although some 
additional academic investment had been prioritised and 
released through the academic planning and resource allocation 
process, some of this was not in place by the year-end.
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Fig. 7: Current Asset Ratio

 

The current asset ratio remained within our target range and 
above our minimum threshold of 1.2.

Fig. 8: Gross and Net Debt to Income 

From 2009/10, the University’s gross debt to income ratio 
moved upwards from its previous low level, reflecting a debt 
refinancing project concluded in that year.  The Council, in 
approving the Finance Strategy, had confirmed the University’s 
need to make best use of the strength of our credit rating to 
support the reputation and resource base of the University.  
Certain financial parameters were agreed including an upper 
target threshold for gross debt to income of 50%.  We will be 
revisiting our debt financing strategy and associated metrics 
during 2016/17 to ensure that it is fit for the coming period.

Gross debt increased to £92.6M (2015: £85.3M) due to the full 
draw-down of our £35M Revolving Credit Facility (2015: £27M).
The gross debt position does not reflect substantial cash 
balances held at the year end.  Including these, the net debt 
position was at £30.1M (2015: £28.7M).

Net debt increased by £1.4M during the year.  The movement in 
funds is summarised below:

The net cash inflow from operating activities for the year 
was £33.4M (2015: £44.7M).  Interest paid totalled £3.5M 
(2015: £3.4M) and interest received was £0.5M (2015: £0.7M).  
Throughout the year the University operated with a cash surplus 
and the overdraft facility was not utilised.

All treasury decisions are taken within the framework of the 
University’s Treasury Policy.  The underlying principle is that 
the University operates a low-risk approach in managing its 
investments and liquidity. The University’s Treasury Policy was 
last approved by the Finance & General Purposes Committee in 
September 2015.  It sets out approved limits for named banks 
and a restriction of the proportion of cash held with any one 
counterparty.

During 2015/16, £32.6M of cash was spent on capital 
investment in our estate and infrastructure, some relating to 
accruals from the prior year. This investment was offset by 
receipt of £8.5M in capital grants and funded primarily from our 
high levels of cash generation.  The main developments in the 
capital programme are summarised opposite.

Strategic Report (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016

Net Debt 31 July 2016 31 July 2015 Change
 £000 £000 £000

Cash and cash 37,458 38,212 (754) 
equivalents

Investments 25,000 18,385 6,615
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Net Debt (30,113) (28,696) (1,417)
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Professor Mark E. Smith 
Vice-Chancellor

Mrs Sarah J. Randall-Paley 
Director of Finance

 Capital programme developments

The previous year had seen the largest single investment in 
the campus capital programme, combining strategic academic 
investments alongside routine refurbishment projects.  During 
2015/16 some significant strategic projects were completed, 
but also time was taken to reflect upon the next phase of 
Estates Masterplan development alongside consideration of 
further student growth.  As well as routine refurbishments of IT 
and estates infrastructure, during the year we saw:

•  The completion of an innovative renovation of our Library 
facilities with new infrastructure, facilities, IT, workspaces and 
bookshelves; high student satisfaction with the changes has 
already been evidenced by the recent National Student Survey 
results which show an increased score for learning resources 
from 80% in 2015 to 91% in 2016;

•  Finalisation of the redevelopment and extension of the Faraday 
building to provide world-class facilities for our Department 
of Chemistry, including the new Collaborative Technology 
Access Programme to provide companies with managed 
and supported access to a broad range of equipment and 
expertise relating to the design, manufacture and safe handling 
of chemical products;

•  Substantial progress on a major refurbishment for Lancaster’s 
Physics Department to provide state-of-the-art teaching 
laboratories, upgraded research facilities and a new social 
learning provision in a glazed atrium;

•  Following an Urban Design Competition with the Royal Institute 
of British Architects (RIBA), architects were appointed for 
the replacement of Lancaster’s landmark ‘spine’, a covered 
walkway across the campus;

•  Development of a major project to redevelop space and 
facilities for the top-ranked Management School, with 
architects selected following an international RIBA competition; 
and

•  Work to develop the planned Health Innovation Development, 
adjacent to the main Bailrigg site, with a vision to become 
an internationally renowned centre of excellence for the 
commercialisation of applied research in the health field.

Conclusion

The University has had another strong year of performance in a 
changing landscape.  Its high-standing continues to be reflected 
in top rankings in both domestic and international league tables.  
These are a reflection of our academic and research standing, 
student satisfaction and the employability of our graduates.

Despite the uncertainties and challenges affecting the HE 
landscape, Lancaster’s vision is to press forward with its 
Strategic Plan ambitions and to respond to the opportunities 
that arise for those agile enough to respond to these changing 
times with vision and boldness.

25 November, 2016
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Statement of Corporate Governance

The University is an independent corporation, whose legal 
status derives from a Royal Charter originally granted in 1964.  
It is an exempt charity under the terms of Schedule 3 of the 
Charities Act 2011 and, as such, is subject to regulation by the 
Higher Education Funding Council for England.  Its objectives, 
powers and framework of governance are set out in the Charter 
and its supporting Statutes, approved by the Privy Council. 

The Charter and Statutes require the University to have three 
separate bodies, each with clearly defined functions and 
responsibilities, to oversee and manage its activities, as follows: 

The Council – is the governing body, responsible for the finance, 
property investments and general business of the University, 
and for setting the general strategic direction of the institution.  
The Council has adopted the following Statement of Primary 
Responsibilities in accordance with the principles contained 
within the Committee of University Chairs (CUC) Higher 
Education Code of Governance: 

The Council is the primary governing body of the University and 
is responsible for: 

(i)  approving the mission of the University and ensuring that 
it meets the interests of groups who can affect or who are 
affected by the achievement of the mission; 

(ii)   stimulating, challenging, evaluating and endorsing 
strategies to deliver the University’s objectives on an 
ongoing and financially viable basis; 

(iii)   ensuring that there are in place appropriate arrangements 
for the management of the University, particularly through 
the appointment of the Vice-Chancellor and the members 
of the senior management team; 

(iv)   ensuring that there are appropriate systems of audit control 
and accountability; 

(v)   approving the principal policies of the University 
(particularly in the areas of finance, estates and human 
resources) on the recommendations of its sub-committees, 
and ensuring that there is an ethical policy framework 
consistent with the University’s Charter and Statutes and 
mission; 

(vi)   making such provision as it thinks fit for the general welfare 
of students, in consultation with the Senate; 

(vii)   ensuring that there is full and appropriate consultation 
on major issues with internal and external groups with an 
interest in the University – especially the students, staff, 
alumni, employers, local, regional and national bodies – and 
active communication and consultation with Court and 
Senate; 

(viii)  monitoring the University’s performance and effectiveness 
against its objectives through the use of key performance 
indicators (KPIs) and benchmarking.  The Council also 
regularly reviews its own effectiveness in facilitating the 
institutional performance. 

The Council meets on a regular basis, usually six times a year.  
To ensure that the Council has sufficient time to discuss 
matters of strategic importance, it instituted in 2013/14 a 
practice of informal discussion at an early stage of proposals 
over dinner the evening before some formal Council meetings 
and also an annual Away Day, to which senior managers 
are invited.  In addition it has agreed to have a periodic joint 
meeting with Senate. The Council monitors management and 
institutional performance through the use of key measures 
of success, using a balanced scorecard approach, to help it 
assess the University’s sustainability. 

It has a majority of members who are neither staff nor students 
of the University (described as lay or independent members), 
one of whom is the Pro-Chancellor. The Pro-Chancellor chairs 
meetings of the Council.  Also included in its members are 
representatives of the staff of the University and the student 
body.  None of the lay members receive any payment, apart 
from the reimbursement of travel and subsistence expenses (a 
total of £5842.75 in 2015/16), for the work which they do for the 
University. The lay members are indicated in Table 1. 

Members of Council serve on a number of committees and 
become involved in other activities and issues across the 
University, depending on interests and availability. 

Appointments of lay members are made on the basis of 
recommendations from the Nominations Committee.  The 
only exception to this, made in recognition of the important 
relationship the University has with Lancaster City Council, is 
that the City Council may nominate one of its elected members 
eligible to serve as a lay member on the University Council. 

Roger Liddle, Lord Liddle of Carlisle, took up the role of Pro-
Chancellor on 1 August 2013. Lord Liddle is a Labour member 
of the House of Lords and a member of its European Union 
Select Committee.  He is also chair of Policy Network, an 
international think tank, and an elected County Councillor for 
Wigton in Cumbria. 

Professor Mark E. Smith, the Vice-Chancellor, is the Chair of 
UCEA, the Board of the Higher Education Careers Service Unit 
(HECSU), Graduate Prospects, and the Financial Sustainability 
Steering Group (FSSG). The Vice-Chancellor is also a Board 
member of the Higher Education Statistics Agency (HESA), 
the Universities UK Research Policy, Funding Policy and Long 
Term Strategy Network Groups, UK Research Reserve (UKRR), 
the Higher Education Funding Council for Wales (HEFCW), as 
well as a Trustee of the AQA Council, Trustee of Jisc and Board 
member of Jiscom, the Lancashire Enterprise Partnership 
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(LEP), and is a member of HEFCE’s Leadership, Governance 
and Management Committee, the EPSRC Strategic Advisory 
Network and Council member of the All-Party Parliamentary 
University Group. 

Much of the Council’s detailed work is initially handled by 
committees; in particular, the Finance and General Purposes 
Committee, the Audit Committee, the Estates Committee, 
the Safety, Health and Wellbeing Committee and the 
Nominations Committee.  The Council also has a Remuneration 
Committee and a Redundancy Committee. The decisions and 
recommendations of these committees are formally reported to 
the Council. 

These Committees, and in some cases others, are formally 
constituted as committees of the Council with written terms of 
reference and specified membership, including lay members 
(from whom the person in the chair is usually selected). 

The Council has delegated decisions to the Vice-Chancellor 
or the Council sub-committees as defined in the Scheme of 
Delegation. 

During 2014/15, the Council received the CUC Higher 
Education Code of Governance and considered whether and 
how it complies with the principles and precepts contained 
within it. The Council was satisfied that it has in place all of the 
primary elements of the Code and has therefore adopted the 
Code. 

During 2016-17, the Council will undertake a review of its own 
effectiveness in line with the requirements of good governance 
as set out in the Code. 

The Senate – is the academic authority of the University and 
draws its membership from the academic and academic-
related staff and the students of the institution. Its role is defined 
as follows: 

The Senate has primary responsibility for the academic work 
of the University, both in teaching and in research, and for the 
regulation and superintendence of the education and discipline 
of the students of the University.  It may also discuss any 
matters relating to the University and may convey its opinions 
on them to the Council. Its key responsibilities are for: 

(i)   the strategic development of the academic activities of the 
University; and 

(ii)   the approval of policies to promote and ensure the quality 
of the academic work of the University, including teaching 
and research. 

The Court – offers a means whereby the wider interests served 
by the University can be associated with the institution, and 
provides a public forum where members of Court can raise any 
matters about the University. The Court has an annual meeting 
at which it receives reports on the working of the University, 
discusses any matters relating to the University, and conveys its 
opinion thereon to the Council or the Senate of the University. 

A majority of the members of the Court are from outside 
the University, representing the local community and other 
designated bodies with an interest in the work of the University, 
but the membership also includes representatives of the staff of 
the University (both academic and non-academic), the student 
body and alumni. 

Senior Officers and Executive Management 

The principal academic and administrative officer of 
the University is the Vice-Chancellor who has a general 
responsibility to the Council for maintaining and promoting the 
efficiency and good order of the University.  Under the terms 
of the formal Memorandum of Assurance and Accountability 
between the University and the Higher Education Funding 
Council for England, the Vice-Chancellor is the accountable 
officer of the University and in that capacity can be summoned 
to appear before the Public Accounts Committee of the House 
of Commons. 

As chief executive of the University, the Vice-Chancellor 
exercises considerable influence upon the development of 
institutional strategy, the identification and planning of new 
developments and the shaping of the institutional ethos. The 
Deputy Vice-Chancellor, the Pro-Vice-Chancellors, the Faculty 
Deans and the senior administrative officers all contribute 
in various ways to this aspect of the work, but the ultimate 
responsibility for what is done rests with the Council. 

The University maintains a Register of Interests of the following 
categories of members of the University: the Council, the Audit 
Committee, the Finance and General Purposes Committee, the 
Estates Committee, Faculty Deans, College Principals, Heads of 
Departments, principal investigators and Senior Officers, which 
may be consulted by arrangement with the Chief Administrative 
Officer and Secretary. 

The Secretary to Council is the Chief Administrative Officer 
and Secretary. Any enquiries about the constitution and 
governance of the University should be addressed to the Chief 
Administrative Officer and Secretary.  Copies of the reports 
on key performance indicators may also be obtained from the 
Chief Administrative Officer and Secretary.
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Statement on Internal Control

1.   As the governing body of Lancaster University, Council has 
responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of policies, aims and 
objectives, while safeguarding the public and other funds 
and assets for which it is responsible, in accordance with 
the responsibilities assigned to the governing body in the 
Charter and Statutes and with HEFCE’s Memorandum of 
Assurance and Accountability. 

2.   The system of internal control is designed to manage rather 
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve policies, aims 
and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of 
internal control operated effectively throughout the period 
and up until the date these accounts were approved. 

3.   Detailed review and monitoring of the system of internal 
control is carried out on behalf of the Council by the 
Audit Committee, from which it receives periodic reports 
concerning internal control, and it requires regular reports 
from managers on the steps they are taking to manage 
risks in their areas of responsibility, including progress 
reports on key projects.  The Audit Committee has 
reminded Council that any system of internal financial 
control can, however, only provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

4.   The review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is supported by the internal audit function which 
is provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers, operating 
to standards defined in the HEFCE Audit Code of 
Practice.  The internal auditor submit regular reports to 
the Audit Committee which include the internal auditors’ 
independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the institution’s system of internal control, with 
recommendations for improvement. The annual internal 
audit opinion given was that ‘governance, risk management 
and control, and value for money arrangements in relation 
to business critical areas is generally satisfactory’. It 
noted that improvements were required in areas where 
recommendations had been raised. Audit Committee 
was satisfied with the management response to 
these recommendations. There were no report review 
classifications of ‘high’ or critical’. 

5.   Audit Committee also receives presentations from 
managers of areas associated with the top risks on how 
they manage risk. 

Table 1 - Attendance at meetings during 2015/16  

Name  Council
 Eligible to  Actually
 attend  attended

* Liddle, Lord R. Pro-Chancellor 6   6 

Smith, Prof. M.E. Vice-Chancellor 6   6 

Atherton, Prof. A.  6   4 

* Barron, Mr D.  6   5 

* Boumphrey, Dr. R.  6   5 

* Carr, Mr J. R. (to 31.7.16)  6   6 

* Dormer, Mr M. J.  6   6 

Dybell, Ms J. (from 1.7.16)  1   1 

* Fitzherbert-Brockholes, Mr F. (to 9.2.16) 3   1 

* Garside, Prof. J.  6   5 

* Georghiou, Ms R. (from 1.10.15)  5   5 

Guy, Professor S.  6   6 

Hedley, Mr W. (to 30.6.16)  5   5 

* Johnson, Mr I. (from 1.3.16)  3   3 

Johnson, Professor N.  6   4

* Johnson, Mr R. (from 1.8.16) -   -

Jones, Prof. K.  6   5

* Jones, Ms R. (from 1.7.16) 1   1

* King, Mr L. (to 31.7.16) 6   5

McLaughlin, Mr E.  6   6

* Neville-Jones, Baroness  6   4

O’Hanlon, Prof. J.  6   6

O’Neill, Mr J. (to 30.6.16) 5   2

* Parker, Mr G. (to 30.9.15) 1   1

* Reynolds, Mr S. (from 1.8.16)  -   -

* Ritchie, Prof. E.  6   5

Taylor, Dr. J.  6   5

* Warriner, Mr A.  6   3

* Young, Mrs V.  6   6

   
* Lay Member 
Dates in brackets indicate start or end of appointments
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6.   Over the past three years, the University has reviewed and 
enhanced its risk management processes and approved 
a new risk management framework including the risk 
policy and risk appetite.  The Council receives a regular 
report on the Strategic Risks Register and most recently 
considered the full Register at its away day in May 2016 
and a further focussed review following the outcome of the 
EU Referendum at its meeting in July 2016. Further activity 
is scheduled for the coming year in order to continue 
strengthening current arrangements and seeking to further 
embed risk management across the University. This activity 
will be overseen by the Director of Strategic Planning 
and Governance, which was a newly created post within 
2015/16 designed to strengthen and integrate planning 
and governance functions, including risk management 
arrangements. Further information on risk management is 
set out below. 

7.   The review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is also supported by the work of the University 
Management Advisory Group, who has responsibility for 
the development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework, and by comments made by the external 
auditors in their management letter and other reports.

Statement on Financial Control 

8.   In accordance with the University’s Charter and Statutes, 
the Council is responsible for the administration and 
management of the affairs of the University and is required 
to present audited financial statements for each financial 
year. 

9.   The Council is responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the University and enable it 
to ensure that the financial statements  are prepared in 
accordance with the University’s Charter and Statutes, 
the 2015 Statement of Recommended Practice on 
Accounting for Further and Higher Education Institutions 
(SORP) and other relevant accounting standards; this was 
the first year the annual accounts were prepared under 
the new SORP and FRS 102 requirements.  In addition, 
within the terms and conditions of a Memorandum of 
Assurance and Accountability agreed between the Higher 
Education Funding Council for England and the Council 
of the University, the Council, through its accountable 
officer, is required to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year which give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs of the University and of the surplus or deficit and 
cash flows for that year.  The Council is responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the University and group’s 

financial statements on the website www.lancaster.ac.uk. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. 

10.   The key elements of the University’s system of internal 
financial control, which is designed to enable Council to 
discharge the responsibilities set out opposite, include the 
following: 

 •  clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and the authority 
delegated to, heads of academic and administrative 
departments, as set out in a Scheme of Council 
Delegations and the Financial Regulations; 

 •  a comprehensive medium and short-term planning and 
resource process; 

 •  monthly reviews of income and expenditure involving 
variance reporting and updates of forecast outturns; 

 •  clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval 
and control of expenditure; 

 •  a formalised treasury management policy; 

 •  comprehensive financial regulations detailing financial 
controls and procedures; and

 •  a professional internal audit team whose annual 
programme is approved by the Audit Committee. 

11.   In causing the financial statements to be prepared, the 
Council has ensured that: 

 •  suitable accounting policies are selected and then applied 
consistently; 

 •  judgements and estimates are made that are reasonable 
and prudent; 

 •  applicable accounting standards have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements; and

 •  financial statements are prepared on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
University will continue in operation.  The Council is 
satisfied that the University has adequate resources to 
continue in operation for the foreseeable future; and for 
this reason, the going concern basis continues to be 
adopted for the preparation of the financial statements. 
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

Strategic Risk Management 

The Council, in accordance with its risk management policy and 
advised by Audit and other committees, keeps under review the 
strategic risks facing the University and the control measures in 
place to manage or mitigate these risks. The top strategic risks 
include that: 

•  student recruitment forecasts are not achieved; 

•  a positive financial performance is not sustained; 

•  an excellent student experience is not maintained/enhanced; 

•  cyber security risks are not adequately addressed; 

•  capacity and infrastructure to support University growth is not 
in place; 

•  the ability to recruit, retain and develop sufficiently high calibre 
and excellent staff is impacted by competition from other 
universities; 

•  there is a lack of adaptation and transformational change to 
the changing external environment; and

•  there is inadequacy in governance and/or management which 
risks the University’s legal and compliance obligations. 

The University seeks to mitigate these strategic risks through 
ensuring appropriate strategies and policies are in place, 
including to enable: 

•  prudent budget management; 

•  recruitment, retention and development of the best staff; 

•  a high quality student experience; 

•  high quality teaching and research activities; 

•  effective communications and relationship management with 
key external stakeholders; and

•  preparedness and appropriate responses to a changing 
environment. 

The University has remained active in its management and 
anticipation of risk issues over the period and is adept to 
responding within its risk processes to the changing external 
environment. The Council has remained consistent in its 
approach to ensure that the University does not become too 
risk averse, but instead takes new opportunities for growth 
whilst looking for ways to mitigate and manage the risks arising. 

Public Benefit Statement 

Lancaster University is an exempt charity under the terms of the 
Charities Act 2011. It is therefore exempt from registration with 
the Charity Commission and its compliance with charity law is 
monitored by HEFCE as principal regulator. 

Members of Council, as trustees, have had regard to the 
guidance on public benefit published by the Charity Commission 
in exercising their powers and duties, including through 
determining the University’s strategic, operational and financial 
objectives. The induction for new members of Council includes 
information about members’ responsibilities as charity trustees. 

The University’s charitable purposes are defined in its Royal 
Charter as the objects of the University: “to advance knowledge, 
wisdom and understanding by teaching and research and by the 
example and influence of its corporate life”. 

The University provides public benefit principally through 
the pursuit of these core objects. The primary beneficiaries 
are current and potential students, alumni, and the general 
public who benefit from a more educated workforce, and the 
University’s research and engagement activities. 

Our Strategy for 2020 (http://www.lancaster.ac.uk/about-us/
strategic-plan/), which was approved in 2013, is focused on 
three priorities: research, teaching and engagement, which 
encompass the full range of University activities, deriving 
from the University’s objects and enabling the delivery of our 
charitable purposes. Delivery of this strategy includes: 

•  to produce world-class research that changes practice and 
thinking: 

   • continue to improve Lancaster’s research performance;  
   • grow and diversify our research income;  
   •  continue to support our research students and researchers, 

especially during the early stages of their careers; and
   •  develop a culture and environment that enables the best 

research globally to be undertaken by staff and students at 
Lancaster.

•  to transform people’s lives and society through teaching and 
student experience: 

   •  continue to improve on our teaching; 
   •  emphasise the transformational nature of teaching and 

learning enabled by Lancaster University; 
   •  continue to enhance the student experience, and in particular 

our collegiate approach and opportunities for wider learning 
and development; 

   •  support the development and practice of teaching and 
learning through internal staff development and support; 

   •  develop research-stimulated teaching and learning; and
   •  enhance our provision of flexible learning.
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•  To engage actively with students, businesses and our 
communities: 

   •  develop ever closer and more interactive relationships with 
our students and alumni; 

   •  lead on renewal and growth of our local community; 
   •  contribute to the development of the economy and society 

locally; 
   •  play a wider role of engagement as a civic leader; 
   •  be an exemplar of engagement with businesses and other 

organisations in research, teaching and learning; 
   •  develop closer and innovative relationships and partnerships; 

and 
   •  engage actively in economic stimulation and innovation. 

The achievements of the University in fulfilling its charitable 
purposes are demonstrated through the ongoing delivery 
of the strategy, which is overseen by Council, across the 
priorities of research, teaching and engagement. Some notable 
achievements and contributions for the public benefit include: 

•  the University continues to strengthen its research capabilities 
and build on its strong performance in the 2014 Research 
Excellence Framework; 

•  excluding the effects of capital grants, research grant income 
increased by 8% year on year from £33.0M to £35.7M; 

•  research publications are made publically available (unless 
there are contractual restrictions) in the University’s research 
portal: www.research.lancs.ac.uk/portal; 

•  the University was ranked in the top 10 of UK universities, 
excluding small and specialist higher education institutions, 
scoring 91% on the overall satisfaction score in the 2016 
National Students Survey; 

•  the University continues to attract and retain students 
who have the potential to succeed and to benefit from the 
experience, including ensuring there is equality of opportunity 
for all applicants, whatever their background.  The most recent 
figures produced by HEFCE demonstrate that the University 
exceeds its benchmark figures for recruiting students from 
state schools (90.1%, benchmark 84.9%) and percentage from 
low participation neighbourhoods (8.9%, benchmark 8.5%); 

•  in order to ensure that students are not deterred by tuition fees 
from studying at Lancaster, the University alerts all prospective 
students to the opportunities for financial support.  The 
University committed £4.3M in 2015/16 to financial support 
for undergraduates and £7.2M for postgraduate students; 

•  in 2015/16, 4,459 students graduated with undergraduate and 
postgraduate degrees at Lancaster and another 1,806 at our 
partner institutions. The most recent figures available (2015) 
show that 96% of the University’s recent graduates went on to 
further study/research or into employment; and

•  in 2014/15 (most recent figures available), the University 
had approximately 300 research contracts with commercial 
businesses and non-commercial organisations, and engaged 
in consultancies to assist over 750 businesses.  It provided 
courses for business and the community which totalled 
12,624 “learner days” of continuing professional development 
and continuing education. 

Some examples of achievements from across the University’s 
broad spectrum of activity include: 

•  CASS (ESRC Centre for Corpus Approaches to Social Science) 
was awarded the esteemed Queen’s Anniversary Prize for its 
work in “computer analysis of world languages in print, speech, 
and online.” The Queen’s Anniversary Prizes are awarded every 
two years to universities and colleges who submit work judged 
to show excellence, innovation, impact, and benefit for the 
institution itself, and for the people and society generally in the 
wider world; 

•  computer scientists at Lancaster University developed the 
‘lightweight operating system’ for the new BBC Micro:Bit that 
was distributed free to almost a million year 7 school children; 

•  work of the School-University Partnership Initiative (SUPI) 
project which aims to inspire the next generation of UK 
researchers through university staff and research students 
working with schools to support learning and encourage 
aspiration for HE. ‘Research in a box’ is an element of the 
project which loans out cutting edge science equipment from 
the University to use in the classroom; 

•  the development and delivery of MOOCs (Massive 
Open Online Courses), including re-running a MOOC to 
accommodate and meet the needs of students with dyslexia 
in foreign or second language classes, in which nearly 19,000 
people participated this year. A new MOOC was launched 
which explores the influence of the Lake District on William 
Wordsworth, in which nearly 7,000 people participated; 

•  research helping to improve the way that thousands of people 
with Parkinson’s disease in the UK feel about their condition 
and how they understand the control they have over how the 
condition affects their lives; 
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Statement of Corporate Governance (continued)

•  leading a programme which has generated 15 new ‘Growth 
Hubs’ to help some of the largest cities in England (and their 
wider areas) support local businesses and provide coordinated 
access to national and local business packages. More than 
67,000 businesses benefitted from the programme, and more 
than 4,000 private sector jobs will be created by 2017; 

•  research into how children and young people are affected 
by flooding which has led to pledges by major insurance 
institutions, emergency response organisations, and national 
government to create more child focussed disaster response 
and recovery policies; and

•  research producing the first detailed study of the impact of 
solar parks on the environment, opening the door to smarter 
forms of farming and better land management. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the governing body 
of Lancaster University

We have audited the fi nancial statements of Lancaster 
University for the year ended 31 July 2016 which comprise the 
Group Income and Expenditure Account, the Group Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, the Group and University Balance 
Sheets, the Group and University Statements of Changes in 
Reserves, the Group Cash Flow Statement, and the related 
notes 1 to 28. The fi nancial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 “The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland” and the Statement of Recommended Practice: 
Accounting for Further and Higher Education.

This report is made solely to the governing body in accordance 
with the charter and statutes of the university. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the governing 
body those matters we are required to state to it in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the board of governors as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the governing 
body and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Governing Body’s Responsibilities 
Statement, the governing body is responsible for the 
preparation of the fi nancial statements that give a true and fair 
view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on 
the fi nancial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the fi nancial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the fi nancial statements suffi  cient to give 
reasonable assurance that the fi nancial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Group’s and the University’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of signifi cant 
accounting estimates made by the governing body; and the 
overall presentation of the fi nancial statements. In addition, 
we read all the fi nancial and non-fi nancial information in the 
annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the 
audited fi nancial statements and to identify any information 
that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 

inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course 
of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report.

Opinion on fi nancial statements

In our opinion the fi nancial statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and 
University’s aff airs as at 31 July 2016 and of the group’s
surplus for the year then ended; and

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and the

Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further
and Higher Education.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Higher Education 
Funding Council for England Audit Code of Practice

In our opinion, in all material respects:

•  income from the funding council, grants and income 
for specifi c purposes and from other restricted funds 
administered by the University during the year ended 31 July 
2016 have been applied for the purposes for which they were
received; and

•  income during the year ended 31 July 2016 has been 
applied in accordance with the University’s statutes and, 
where appropriate, with the memorandum of assurance and 
accountability, with the funding council; and

•  the requirements of HEFCE’s accounts direction have been 
met.

Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor 
Leeds, United Kingdom

25 November 2016
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1. Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP): 
Accounting for Further and Higher Education 2015 and in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standards (FRS 102). The 
University is a public benefit entity and therefore has applied the 
relevant public benefit requirement of FRS 102. The financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention (modified by the revaluation of fixed assets).

2. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the University 
and all its subsidiaries for the financial year to 31 July 2016. 
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during 
the period are included in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income from the date of acquisition or up to 
the date of disposal. Intra-group transactions are eliminated on 
consolidation. 

The consolidated financial statements do not include the 
income and expenditure of the Students’ Union as the 
University does not exert control or dominant influence over 
policy decisions.  Associated companies and joint ventures are 
accounted for using the equity method.

3. Income recognition

Income from the sale of goods or services is credited to the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income when the 
goods or services are supplied to the external customers or the 
terms of the contract have been satisfied.

Fee income is stated gross of any expenditure which is not 
a discount and credited to the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and over the period in which students 
are studying.  Bursaries and scholarships are accounted for 
gross as expenditure and not deducted from income.

Investment income is credited to the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income on an accruals basis.

Funds the University receives and disburses as paying agent 
on behalf of a funding body are excluded from the income and 
expenditure of the University where the University is exposed to 
minimal risk or enjoys minimal economic benefit related to the 
transaction.

Grant funding 
Grant funding including funding council block grant, research 
grants from government sources and grants (including research 
grants) from non government sources are recognised as 
income when the University is entitled to the income and 
performance related conditions have been met.  Income 
received in advance of performance related conditions being 
met is recognised as deferred income within creditors on the 
balance sheet and released to income as the conditions are 
met.

Donations and endowments 
Non exchange transactions without performance related 
conditions are donations and endowments. Donations and 
endowments with donor imposed restrictions are recognised 
in income when the University is entitled to the funds.  Income 
is retained within the restricted reserve until such time that it is 
utilised in line with such restrictions at which point the income is 
released to general reserves through a reserve transfer.

Donations with no restrictions are recognised in income when 
the University is entitled to the funds.

Investment income and appreciation of endowments is 
recorded in income in the year in which it arises and as either 
restricted or unrestricted income according to the terms of the 
restriction applied to the individual endowment fund.

There are three main types of donations and endowments: 

i)  restricted donations - the donor has specified that the 
donation must be used for a particular objective;

ii)  restricted expendable endowments - the donor has 
specified a particular objective other than the purchase or 
construction of tangible fixed assets and the University has 
the power to use the capital;

iii)   restricted permanent endowments - the donor has 
specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to 
generate an income stream to be applied to a particular 
objective.

Capital grants 
Capital grants are recognised in income when the University 
is entitled to the funds subject to any performance related 
conditions being met.

 

Statement of Accounting Policies 
for the year ended 31 July 2016
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4. Accounting for retirement benefits

The two principal pension schemes for the University’s staff 
are the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS) and the 
Lancashire County Pension Fund (LCPF).  The schemes are 
defined benefit schemes which are externally funded and 
contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P).  Each fund is 
valued every three years by professionally qualified independent 
actuaries.

The USS is a multi-employer scheme for which it is not possible 
to identify the assets and liabilities to University members due 
to the mutual nature of the scheme and therefore this scheme 
is accounted for as a defined contribution retirement benefit 
scheme.

A liability is recorded within provisions for any contractual 
commitment to fund past deficits within the USS scheme.

Defined Contribution Plan 
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit 
plan under which the University pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation 
to pay further amounts.  Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in 
the income statement in the periods during which services are 
rendered by employees.

Defined Benefit Plan 
Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other 
than defined contribution plans.  Under defined benefit plans, 
the University’s obligation is to provide the agreed benefits to 
current and former employees, and actuarial risk (that benefits 
will cost more or less than expected) and investment risk (that 
returns on assets set aside to fund the benefits will differ from 
expectations) are borne, in substance, by the University.  The 
Group should recognise a liability for its obligations under 
defined benefit plans net of plan assets.  This net defined 
benefit liability is measured as the estimated amount of 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service 
in the current and prior periods, discounted to determine its 
present value, less the fair value (at bid price) of plan assets.  
The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method.  Where the calculation results in 
a net asset, recognition of the asset is limited to the extent to 
which the University is able to recover the surplus either through 
reduced contributions in the future or through refunds from the 
plan.

5. Employment benefits

Short term employment benefits such as salaries and 
compensated absences are recognised as an expense in the 
year in which the employees render service to the University.  
Any unused benefits are accrued and measured as the 
additional amount the University expects to pay as a result of 
the unused entitlement.

6. Service Concession Arrangements

Fixed assets held under service concession arrangements are 
recognised on the Balance Sheet at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments when the assets are brought into use 
with a corresponding financial liability.

Payments under the service concession arrangement are 
allocated between service costs, finance charges and financial 
liability repayments to reduce the financial liability to nil over the 
life of the arrangement.

7. Operating leases

Costs in respect of operating leases are charged on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Any lease premiums or incentives 
are spread over the minimum lease term.

8. Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
respective functional currencies of Group entities at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
balance sheet date are translated to the functional currency at 
the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange 
differences arising on translation are recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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9. Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated at deemed cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Freehold land 
and buildings and plant and machinery that had been revalued 
on the date of transition to the 2015 FE HE SORP, are measured 
on the basis of deemed cost, being the revalued amount at 
the date of that revaluation.  Where parts of a fixed asset have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
of fixed assets.

Land and buildings 
Costs incurred in relation to land and buildings after initial 
purchase or construction are capitalised to the extent that they 
increase the expected future benefits to the University.

Freehold land is not depreciated as it is considered to have an 
indefinite useful life. Freehold buildings are depreciated on a 
straight line basis over their expected useful lives ranging from 
15 to 80 years.

No depreciation is charged on assets in the course of 
construction.

Equipment 
Equipment, including computers and software, costing less than 
£25,000 per individual item is recognised as expenditure. All 
other equipment is capitalised.

Capitalised equipment is stated at cost and depreciated over its 
expected useful life as follows: 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at the date of preparation of each Balance Sheet.

Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs which are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
capitalised.

10. Heritage assets

Works of art and other valuable artefacts valued at over £25,000 
have been capitalised and recognised at the cost or value of the 
acquisition, where such a cost or valuation is reasonably obtainable.

Heritage assets are not depreciated as their long economic life 
and high residual value mean that any depreciation would not be 
material.

11. Investments

Non current asset investments are held on the Balance Sheet at 
amortised cost less impairment.

Current asset investments are held at fair value with movements 
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

12. Stock

Building maintenance, catering, bars and central stationery 
stocks are brought into the accounts at cost price.  Neither 
consumable materials held in academic departments nor library 
books are included in stock.

13. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand 
and overdrafts. Deposits are repayable on demand if they are 
in practice available within 24 hours without penalty.  Cash 
equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value.

14.  Provisions, contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets

Provisions are recognised in the financial statements when:

(a)   the University has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event;

(b)  it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation; and

(c)   a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects risks specific to the liability.  A contingent liability arises 
from a past event that gives the University a possible obligation 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence 
or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the University.

Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016

 Expected useful
  life (years)

Computer Equipment: 5

Equipment acquired for specific  3-5 
research projects:

Other Equipment: 10

Motor Vehicles: 5
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Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a 
provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable 
that an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of 
the obligation cannot be measured reliably.  A contingent asset 
arises where an event has taken place that gives the University 
a possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the University.

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the 
Balance Sheet but are disclosed in the notes.

15.  Accounting for Joint Operations,  
Jointly Controlled Assets and  
Jointly Controlled Operations

The University accounts for its share of joint ventures using 
the equity method.  The University accounts for its share of 
transactions from joint operations and jointly controlled assets 
in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

16. Taxation

The University is an exempt charity within the meaning of Part 3 
of the Charities Act 2011.

It is therefore a charity within the meaning of Paragraph 1 
of schedule 6 to the Finance Act 2010 and accordingly, the 
University is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of 
income or capital gains received within categories covered by 
sections 478-488 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 (CTA 2010) 
or section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to 
the extent that such income or gains are applied to exclusively 
charitable purposes.

The University receives no similar exemption in respect of Value 
Added Tax. Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is included in the costs 
of such inputs.  Any irrecoverable VAT allocated to fixed assets 
is included in their cost.  

The University’s subsidiaries are liable to Corporation Tax in the 
same way as any other commercial organisation.

Deferred tax is provided in full on timing differences which 
result in an obligation at the balance sheet date to pay more 
tax, or a right to pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected 
to apply when they crystallise based on current rates and law.  
Timing differences arise from the inclusion of items of income 
and expenditure in taxation computations in periods different 
from those in which they are included in financial statements.  
Deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be recovered.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

17. Derivatives

Derivatives are held on the balance sheet at fair value with 
movements in fair value recorded in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

18. Reserves

Reserves are classified as restricted or unrestricted. Restricted 
endowment reserves include balances which, through 
endowment to the University, are held as a permanently 
restricted fund which the University must hold in perpetuity.

Other restricted reserves include balances where the donor has 
designated a specific purpose and therefore the University is 
restricted in the use of these funds.

19. Transition to 2015 SORP

The University has prepared its financial statements in 
accordance with FRS 102 for the first time and consequently 
has applied the first time adoption requirements.  An 
explanation of how the transition to the SORP has affected the 
reported financial position, financial performance and cash 
flows of the consolidated results of the University is provided in 
note 28 to the accounts.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 July 2016

  Year ended 31 July 2016 Year ended 31 July 2015
  Consolidated) University) Consolidated) University) 
Income Notes £000) £000) £000) £000)

Tuition fees and education contracts 1 126,328) 126,328) 116,174) 116,174)
Funding body grants 2 33,161) 33,161) 30,486) 30,486)
Research grants and contracts 3 38,321) 37,580) 39,426) 38,402)
Other income 4 68,339) 66,707) 67,795) 65,941)
Investment income  5 519) 544) 790) 801)

Total income before donations and endowments  266,668) 264,320) 254,671) 251,804)

Donations and endowments 6 617) 617) 897) 897)

Total income  267,285) 264,937) 255,568) 252,701)

Expenditure     

Staff costs 7 135,925) 135,063) 136,546) 135,159)
Other operating expenses  97,647) 96,181) 92,970) 91,486)
Depreciation 9,11 16,725) 16,606) 14,520) 14,384)
Exceptional impairment of fixed assets  -)) -) 2,624) 2,624)
Total depreciation and impairment  16,725) 16,606) 17,144) 17,008)
Interest and other finance costs 8 5,251) 5,251) 3,630) 3,630)

 
Total expenditure 9 255,548) 253,101) 250,290) 247,283)

Surplus before other gains and losses   11,737) 11,836) 5,278) 5,418)

Loss on investments 22 (29) (29) (21) (21)

Surplus before tax  11,708) 11,807 5,257) 5,397)

Taxation 10 (375) (375) (453) (453)

Surplus for the year  11,333) 11,432) 4,804) 4,944)

Actuarial loss in respect of the Lancashire County  23 (9,796) (9,796) (5,663) (5,663) 
Pension Fund

Total comprehensive income for the year  1,537) 1,636) (859) (719)

Represented by:     

   Restricted comprehensive income for the year  128) 128) (38) (38) 
   Unrestricted comprehensive income for the year  1,409) 1,508) (821) (681)

  1,537) 1,636) (859) (719)

 
All items of income and expenditure relate to continuing operations.     
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Consolidated and University Balance Sheet
As at 31 July 2016

  As at 31 July 2016 As at 31 July 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University 
 Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets 

Fixed Assets 11 394,231 392,554 376,469 374,673
Heritage asset 12 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
Investments 13 1,459 10,819 1,488 10,848

  396,690 404,373 378,957 386,521

Current assets     

Stock 14 426 426 369 363
Trade and other receivables 15 19,535 23,693 16,562 20,127
Investments 16 25,000 25,000 18,385 18,385
Cash and cash equivalents 17 37,458 37,362 38,212 38,116

  82,419 86,481 73,528 76,991

Less: Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 18 58,694 68,294 57,589 67,101

Net current assets  23,725 18,187 15,939 9,890

Total assets less current liabilities  420,415 422,560 394,896 396,411

Less: Creditors: amounts falling due after more 19 91,709 91,452 84,638 84,320 
than one year

Provisions     
Pension provisions 20 72,428 72,428 56,011 56,011
Other provisions 21 3,357 3,357 2,863 2,863

Total net assets  252,921 255,323 251,384 253,217

Restricted Reserves      
Endowment and donation reserve 22 5,556 5,556 5,428 5,428

Unrestricted Reserves   
Income and expenditure reserve   247, 365 249,767 245,956 247,789 

Total Reserves  252,921 255,323 251,384 253,217

The financial statements were approved by the Council on 25 November 2016 and were signed on its behalf by: 
 
 

 
 
 
Lord Roger J. Liddle Professor Mark E. Smith Mrs Sarah J. Randall-Paley  
Pro-Chancellor Vice-Chancellor and Director of Finance  
 Accountable Officer



26      Lancaster University Financial Statements 2016

Consolidated and University Statement of Changes in  
Reserves
Year ended 31 July 2016

Consolidated Income and expenditure account
 Endowments) Unrestricted) Total) 
 and Donations) Reserves)  
 £000) £000) £000)

Balance at 1 August 2014 5,466) 246,777) 252,243)

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement 756) 4,048) 4,804)
Actuarial loss in respect of the Lancashire County Pension Fund - (5,663) (5,663)
Release of restricted funds spent in year (794) 794) -

Total comprehensive income for the year (38) (821) (859)

Balance at 1 August 2015 5,428) 245,956) 251,384)

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement 655) 10,678) 11,333)
Actuarial loss in respect of the Lancashire County Pension Fund -) (9,796) (9,796)
Release of restricted funds spent in year (527) 527) -)

Total comprehensive income for the year 128) 1,409) 1,537)

Balance at 31 July 2016 5,556) 247,365) 252,921)

University Income and expenditure account
 Endowments) Unrestricted) Total) 
 and Donations) Reserves)  
 £000) £000) £000)

Balance at 1 August 2014 5,466) 248,467) 253,933)

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement 756) 4,191) 4,947)
Actuarial loss in respect of the Lancashire County Pension Fund -) (5,663) (5,663)
Release of restricted funds spent in year (794) 794) -)

Total comprehensive income for the year (38) (678) (716)

Balance at 1 August 2015 5,428) 247,789) 253,217)

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement 655) 10,777) 11,432)
Actuarial loss in respect of the Lancashire County Pension Fund -) (9,796) (9,796)
Release of restricted funds spent in year (527) 527) -

Total comprehensive income for the year 128) 1,508) 1,636)

Gift aid from subsidiary company - 470) 470)

Balance at 31 July 2016 5,556) 249,767) 255,323)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 July 2016

  Year ended) Year ended)
  31 July 2016) 31 July 2015)
 Notes £000) £000)

Cash flows  from operating activities

Surplus for the year  11,333) 4,804)

Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation 11 16,725) 17,144)
Amortisation of finance costs  103) 93)
Loss on investments 22 29) 21)
(Increase)  / decrease in stock  (57) 48)
(Increase) / decrease in debtors  (2,997) 73)
(Decrease) / increase in creditors  (1,004) 5,493)
Increase in pension provisions  6,884) 13,120)
Increase in other provisions  229) 2,132) 

Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Investment income 5 (447) (718)
Revaluation of non-cash donation  - (176)
Profit on sale of investments  (271) -)
Interest payable 8 3,466) 3,364)
Endowment income 22 (612) (705)

Net cash inflow from operating activities  33,381) 44,693)

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sales of investments  1,656) -)
Investment income  472) 718)
Payments made to acquire fixed assets  (32,595) (53,257)
New non-current investments  (8,000) -)

  (38,467) (52,539) 

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid  (3,455) (3,355)
Endowment cash received 22 612) 705)
New unsecured loans  8,000) 26,821)
Repayment of amounts borrowed  (825) (16,308)

  4,332 7,863) 

(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year  (754) 17)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  38,212) 38,195)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year  37,458) 38,212)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 July 2016

  Year ended 31 July 2016 Year ended 31 July 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University 
1 Tuition fees and education contracts Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

Full-time home and EU students   68,883 68,883 63,436 63,436
Full-time international students  51,641 51,641 47,170 47,170
Part-time students  4,243 4,243 4,121 4,121
Research Training Support Grant  1,561 1,561 1,447 1,447

  126,328 126,328 116,174 116,174 
     

2 Funding body grants  £000 £000 £000 £000

Recurrent grant
Higher Education Funding Council  24,256 24,256 25,188 25,188
Capital Grant  5,793 5,793 3,076 3,076

Specific grants
Higher Education Innovation Fund  3,112 3,112 2,222 2,222

  33,161 33,161 30,486 30,486

3 Research grants and contracts  £000 £000 £000 £000

Research councils and charities  22,137 22,137 19,319 18,295
UK central government, local and health authorities  4,602 4,546 4,994 4,994
Industry and commerce  1,889 1,437 1,840 1,840
European Union  6,831 6,831 10,397 10,397
Other  2,862 2,629 2,876 2,876

   38,321 37,580 39,426 38,402

4 Other income  £000 £000 £000 £000

Colleges and Residences  30,913 30,913 30,989 30,989
Other services rendered  17,676 17,676 18,716 18,716
Other income  19,750 18,118 18,090 16,236

  68,339 66,707 67,795 65,941 
    

5 Investment income  £000 £000 £000 £000

Investment income on endowments 22 72 72 72 72
Other investment income  447 472 445 456
Net return on pension scheme 23 - - 273 273

  519 544 790 801

6 Donations and endowments  £000 £000 £000 £000

New donations and endowments  617 617 897 897
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  Year ended 31 July 2016 Year ended 31 July 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University 
7 Staff costs  £000 £000 £000 £000

Staff Costs:
Salaries  106,157 105,392 100,903 99,652
Social security costs  8,617 8,561 7,455 7,372
Employer pension costs  15,707 15,666 14,190 14,137
Movement on USS provision  3,115 3,115 12,036 12,036
LGPS provision movement  2,153 2,153 1,196 1,196
Restructuring costs  176 176 766 766

  135,925 135,063 136,546 135,159

   Consolidated and University
    Year Ended Year Ended 
    31 July 2016 31 July 2015 
Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor:    £000 £000

Salary    265 230
Benefits    2 1
Pension contributions to USS    44 37

    311 268

Remuneration of other higher paid staff, excluding employer’s pension contributions  Number Number

£100,000 - £109,999    17 14
£110,000 - £119,999    7 9
£120,000 - £129,999    6 -
£130,000 - £139,999    1 1
£140,000 - £149,999    1 -
£150,000 - £159,999    2 1
£160,000 - £169,999    2 3
£170,000 - £179,999    1 -
£190,000 - £199,999    - 1
£210,000 - £219,999    1 -

Average staff numbers by major category: (expressed as full-time equivalents)  Number Number

Academic and professional    1,596 1,543
Clerical and related    668 640
Technical    76 75
Manual    258 235
Sessional    254 206

    2,852 2,699

Compensation for loss of office payable to a senior post-holder:   £000 £000

Compensation payable recorded within other comprehensive income   - 162

The severance payment was approved by the University’s remuneration committee.    
      



30      Lancaster University Financial Statements 2016

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016

7 Staff costs (continued) 

   Consolidated and University
    Year Ended Year Ended 
    31 July 2016 31 July 2015 
Key management personnel    £000 £000

Key management personnel compensation    2,538 2,340

 
Key management personnel comprise of all members of the University’s Management Advisory Group who have the authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the University.    

Council Members

The University’s council members are the trustees for charitable law purposes.  Due to the nature of the University’s operations 
and the composition of the Council, being drawn from local public and private sector organisations, it is inevitable that transactions 
will take place with organisations in which a member of the Council may have an interest.  All transactions involving organisations 
in which a member of Council may have an interest are conducted at arms length and in accordance with the University’s Financial 
Regulations and usual procurement procedures.

No Council member has received any remuneration/waived payments from the Group during the year (2015 - none).

The total expenses paid to or on behalf of 11 Council members was £5,843 (2015 - £7,365 to 11 Council members).   
This represents travel and subsistence expenses incurred in attending Council and other committee meetings. 

  Year ended 31 July 2016 Year ended 31 July 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University 
8 Interest and other finance costs  £000 £000 £000 £000

Loan interest  3,466 3,466 3,364 3,364
Net charge on pension schemes  1,785 1,785 266 266

  5,251 5,251 3,630 3,630

9 Analysis of total expenditure by activity  £000 £000 £000 £000

Academic departments  130,678 130,678 122,058 122,058
Vice and Pro-Vice-Chancellors’ portfolios  6,053 6,053 5,581 5,581
Facilities  37,609 38,043 36,661 37,079
Interest payable  3,466 3,466 3,364 3,364
Depreciation  16,725 16,606 17,144 17,008
Professional Services  35,627 35,627 32,223 32,223
Library  5,591 5,591 5,351 5,351
Other expenses  9,984 9,984 11,365 11,121
University companies  2,762 - 3,045 -
Additional charge re pension schemes  7,053 7,053 13,498 13,498

Total expenditure  255,548 253,101 250,290 247,283

Other operating expenses include:      
External auditor’s remuneration in respect of audit services  75 57 75 58
External auditor’s remuneration in respect of non-audit  - - 18 18 
services
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  Year ended 31 July 2016 Year ended 31 July 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University 
10 Taxation  £000 £000 £000 £000

UK corporation tax  315 315 425 425
Overseas taxation re international partnerships  60 60 28 28

  375 375 453 453

11 Fixed Assets

  Freehold Land) Plant and) Fixtures,) Assets in)  Total 
  and Buildings) Machinery) Fittings and) the Course of) 
    Equipment) Construction) 
Consolidated  £000) £000) £000) £000) £000

Cost or valuation

At 1 August 2015  261,545) 68,830) 38,076) 34,117) 402,568
Additions  4,136) 920) 6,874) 22,557) 34,487
Transfers  12,570) 6,028) 10,253) (28,851) -

At 31 July 2016  278,251) 75,778) 55,203) 27,823) 437,055

Consisting of valuation as at:

31 July 2016  248,579) 63,118) -) -) 311,697
Cost  29,672) 12,660) 55,203) 27,823)  125,358

  278,251) 75,778) 55,203) 27,823) 437,055 

Depreciation

At 1 August 2015  5,182) 3,416) 17,501) -) 26,099
Charge for year  6,077) 3,347) 7,301) -) 16,725

At 31 July 2016  11,259) 6,763) 24,802) -) 42,824

Net Book Value at 31 July 2016  266,992) 69,015) 30,401) 27,823) 394,231

Net Book Value at 31 July 2015  256,363) 65,414) 20,575) 34,117) 376,469 

At 31 July 2016, freehold land and buildings included £31.6M (2015 - £30.3M) in respect of freehold land and is not depreciated.
The Exchequer interest within fixed assets is £35.3M (2015 - £38.1M) and should assets funded from Treasury sources be sold, 
the University would either have to surrender the proceeds to the Treasury or use them in accordance with the terms of the 
Memorandum of Assurance and Accountability.
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11 Fixed Assets (continued)

  Freehold Land Plant and Fixtures, Assets in)  Total 
  and Buildings Machinery Fittings and the Course of) 
    Equipment Construction) 
University  £000 £000 £000 £000) £000

Cost or valuation      

At 1 August 2015  261,545 66,796 38,019 34,117) 400,477
Additions  4,136 920 6,874 22,557) 34,487
Transfers  12,570 6,028 10,253 (28,851) -

At 31 July 2016  278,251 73,744 55,146 27,823) 434,964

Consisting of valuation as at:

31 July 2016  248,579 63,118 - -) 311,697
Cost  29,672 10,626 55,146 27,823) 123,267

   278,251 73,744 55,146 27,823) 434,964

Depreciation

At 1 August 2015  5,182 3,161 17,461 -) 25,804
Charge for year  6,077 3,245 7,284 -) 16,606

At 31 July 2016  11,259 6,406 24,745 -) 42,410

Net Book Value at 31 July 2016  266,992 67,338 30,401 27,823) 392,554

Net Book Value at 31 July 2015  256,363 63,635 20,558 34,117) 374,673

12 Heritage Asset

   2016 2015 2014 2013 
Consolidated and University   £000 £000 £000 £000

Donated asset at valuation   1,000 1,000 700 700

  
The heritage asset relates to a work of art acquired by the University.     
       

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016
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13 Non-current Investments  

 Subsidiary Other fixed) Total) 
 companies assets) 
  investments) 
Consolidated £000 £000) £000)

At 1 August 2015    - 1,488) 1,488)

Impairment    - (29) (29)

At 31 July 2016    - 1,459) 1,459)

University £000 £000) £000)

At 1 August 2015    9,360 1,488) 10,848)

Impairment    - (29) (29)

At 31 July 2016    9,360 1,459) 10,819)

   Consolidated 
   and University 
Other non-current investments consist of:   £000

Endowment assets managed by Cazenove Capital Management    1,422
Equity investment in CVCP Properties      37

      1,459

 
The non-current investments have been valued at market value. The University’s investment in subsidiary companies represents the 
share capital of those companies less any impairment.      
      

  As at 31 July 2016 As at 31 July 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University 
14 Stock  £000 £000 £000 £000 

General consumables   426 426 369 363
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016

  Year ended 31 July 2016 Year ended 31 July 2015
  Consolidated University Consolidated University 
15 Trade and other receivables  £000 £000 £000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year

Research grants receivables  5,969 5,969 4,731 4,731
Other trade receivables  7,132 6,714 7,107 6,896
Prepayments and accrued income  6,434 5,983 4,724 4,089
Amounts due from subsidiary companies  - 5,027 - 4,411

  19,535 23,693 16,562 20,127

16 Current Investments  £000 £000 £000 £000

Short term investment in shares  - - 1,385 1,385
Short term deposits  25,000 25,000 17,000 17,000

  25,000 25,000 18,385 18,385

 
Deposits are held with banks and building societies operating in the London market and licensed by the Financial Conduct Authority 
with more than three months maturity at the placement date.  The interest rate for these deposits are fixed for the duration of the 
deposit.

At 31 July 2016 the weighted average interest rate of these fixed rate deposits was 1.04% per annum and the remaining weighted 
average period for which the interest rate is fixed on these deposits was 183 days.  The fair value of these deposits was not 
materially different from the book value.

   At August Cash At 31 July 
   2015 Flows 2016 
17 Cash and cash equivalents   £000 £000 £000

Consolidated      
Cash and cash equivalents   38,212 (754) 37,458

University       
Cash and cash equivalents   38,116 (754) 37,362

 
Deposits are held primarily with banks operating in the London market and licensed by the Financial Conduct Authority. These 
deposits are either on-call or placed with a maturity date of less than three months. The only exception is a balance of £443k held 
with HBL Bank (Pakistan), an account which exists to facilitate payments from students of our international teaching partnership with 
COMSATS in Lahore.
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  Year ended 31 July 2016 Year ended 31 July 2015
  Consolidated) University) Consolidated University 
18 Creditors  £000) £000) £000 £000

Amounts falling due within one year

Unsecured loans  1,119) 1,119) 973 973
Trade payables  18,295) 18,221) 17,814 17,767
Payments received on account  993) 993) 626 626
Social security and other taxation payable  5,210) 5,152) 4,536 4,483
Accruals and deferred income  33,077) 32,407) 33,640 33,104
Amounts owed to subsidiary companies  -) 10,402) - 10,148

  58,694) 68,294) 57,589 67,101

Deferred income

Included within accruals and deferred income are the following items of income which have been deferred until specific 
performance related conditions have been met.      

  £000) £000) £000 £000

Research grants received on account  15,289) 15,289) 14,649 14,649
Project income received on account  10,597) 10,597) 12,258 12,258

  25,886) 25,886) 26,907 26,907

19 Creditors  £000) £000) £000 £000

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Deferred income   257) -) 318 -
Unsecured loans  91,452) 91,452) 84,320 84,320

   91,709) 91,452) 84,638 84,320

Analysis of unsecured loans:

Due within one year (Note 18)  1,119) 1,119) 973 973

Due between one and two years  1,131) 1,131) 1,071 1,071
Due between two and five years  37,611) 37,611) 29,776 29,776
Due in five years or more  52,710) 52,710) 53,473 53,473

Due after more than one year  91,452) 91,452) 84,320 84,320

Total secured and unsecured loans  92,571) 92,571) 85,293 85,293

Included in loans are the following: 
Lender   Amount) Term Interest rate 
   £000) Years %

Royal Bank of Scotland   44,676) 23 5.84 
Santander UK   35,000) 3 1.36 
Scottish Widows   11,594) 14 5.24 
HEFCE   1,813) 4 0.00 
Arrangement costs   (512)

   92,571)

 Arrangement costs of £512k (2015: £615k) have been offset against the outstanding borrowings and are being amortised over the 
lives of the facilities.      
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016

20 Provision for pension liabilities  Obligations to) Pension) Defined benefit) Total)
  fund deficit on) enhancements) obligations) pensions)
  USS pension) on termination) (LCPF)) provisions)
Consolidated  £000) £000) £000) £000)

At 1 August 2015  23,545) 1,990) 30,476) 56,011)
Utilised   (925) (449) (678) (2,052)
Additions   4,746) 226) 13,537) 18,509)
Unused amounts reversed  - (40) -) (40)

At 31 July 2016  27,366) 1,727) 43,335) 72,428)

  Obligations to) Pension) Defined benefit) Total)
  fund deficit on) enhancements) obligations) pensions)
  USS pension) on termination) (LCPF)) provisions)
University  £000) £000) £000) £000)

At 1 August 2015  23,545) 1,990) 30,476) 56,011)
Utilised  (925) (449) (678) (2,052)
Additions  4,746) 226) 13,537) 18,509)
Unused amounts reversed  - (40) -) (40)

At 31 July 2016  27,366) 1,727) 43,335) 72,428)

The payment profiles of the provisions are as follows:

Less than 1 year  1,612) 230) 711) 2,553)
Between 1 and 2 years  1,633) 118) 711) 2,462)
Between 2 and 5 years  5,360) 355) 2,134) 7,849)
Over 5 years  18,761) 1,024) 39,779) 59,564)

  27,366) 1,727) 43,335) 72,428)

 
The obligation to fund the past deficit on the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS) arises from the contractual obligation 
with the pension scheme for total payments relating to benefits arising from past performance.  Management have assessed 
future employees within the scheme and salary payment over the period of the contracted obligation in assessing the value of this 
provision.

The provision for pension enhancements on termination relate to enhanced benefits payable to retired members of both USS and 
the Lancashire County Pension Fund (LCPF).

The obligation to fund the past deficit on the LCPF arises from the contractual obligation with the pension scheme for total 
payments relating to benefits arising from past performance.  Management have assessed future employees within the scheme 
and salary payment over the period of the contracted obligation in assessing the value of this provision.
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21 Provisions for other liabilities   International) Other) Total)
   partnerships’) provisions) 
   development)   
Consolidated   £000) £000) £000)

At 1 August 2015   943) 1,920) 2,863)
Utilised    (193) (1,424) (1,617)
Additions   272) 1,839) 2,111)

At 31 July 2016   1,022) 2,335) 3,357)

   International) Other) Total)
   partnerships’) provisions) 
   development)   
University   £000) £000) £000)

At 1 August 2015   943) 1,920) 2,863)
Utilised   (193) (1,424) (1,617)
Additions   272) 1,839) 2,111)

At 31 July 2016   1,022) 2,335) 3,357)

The payment profiles of the other provisions are as follows:

Less than 1 year    1,670)  
Between 1 and 2 years    160)  
Between 2 and 5 years    479)  
Over 5 years    26) 

    2,335)

 
The international partnerships’ development provision represents a contractual obligation to retain a proportion of associated fee 
income to fund certain staff development programmes for members of staff from our overseas partners. The timings of these 
programmes are driven by the needs of the overseas partners and it is therefore not possible to construct an accurate payment 
profile for this provision.

Other provisions relate to a potential clawback of grant income, a property related lease provision and a provision relating to a 
potential additional utility cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016

  Restricted) Restricted) 2016) 2015)
  permanent) donations) Total) Total) 
  endowments)     
22 Endowment and Donations Reserve  £000) £000) £000) £000)

Balances At 1 August 2015

Capital  1,576) -) 1,576) 1,597) 
Accumulated income  628) 3,224) 3,852) 3,869)

   2,204) 3,224) 5,428) 5,466) 

New endowments and donations  -) 612) 612) 705)
Transfer to projects  (2) (255) (257) (592) 
Investment income  51) 21) 72) 72) 
Expenditure  (18) (252) (270) (202)

   33) (231) (198) (130)

Decrease in market value of investments  (29) - (29) (21)

At 31 July 2016  2,206) 3,350) 5,556) 5,428)

Represented by:
Capital  1,547 - 1,547) 1,576) 
Accumulated income  659 3,350 4,009) 3,852)

   2,206 3,350 5,556) 5,428)

Analysis by type of purpose:

Lectureships  1,161 191 1,352) 1,284) 
Scholarships and bursaries  6 687 693) 707) 
Research support  - 326 326) 420) 
Prize funds  431 121 552) 552) 
Student support  126 356 482) 404) 
General  482 1,669 2,151) 2,061)

  2,206 3,350 5,556) 5,428) 

Analysis by asset

Current asset investments    1,421) 1,451) 
Non-current asset investments    4,135) 3,977)

    5,556) 5,428)

.
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23 University pension schemes

The University has two principal pension schemes, the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS) and the Lancashire County 
Pension Fund (LCPF). In addition to the two main schemes, the University is also a member of the NHS pension scheme and 
contributes to a money purchase scheme with Legal and General. Total pension costs for the group were £21.0 million, analysed as 
follows:

  Year ended 31 July 2016 Year ended 31 July 2015
 Employer Provision Total Employer Provision Total 
 Contributions Movement  Contributions Movement 
 £000 £000 £000 £000  £000 £000

USS 11,856 3,115 14,971 10,528 12,036 22,564
LCPF 3,794 2,153 5,947 3,589 1,196 4,785
Legal and General 21 - 21 35 - 35
NHS 36 - 36 38 - 38

Total pension costs 15,707 5,268 20,975 14,190 13,232 27,422
(note 7)

Universities Superannuation Scheme 

The institution participates in the Universities Superannuation Scheme (the scheme).  Throughout the current and preceding 
periods, the scheme was a defined benefit only pension scheme until 31 March 2016 which was contracted out of the State 
Second Pension (S2P).  The assets of the scheme are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. Because of the mutual nature 
of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not hypothecated to individual institutions and a scheme-wide contribution rate is set. The 
institution is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other institutions’ employees and is unable to identify its share of 
the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by Section 28 of 
FRS102 “Employee benefits”, accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme.  As a result, the amount charged 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income represents the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the accounting 
period.  Since the institution has entered into an agreement (the Recovery Plan that determines how each employer within the 
scheme will fund the overall deficit), the institution recognises a liability for the contributions payable that arise from the agreement 
to the extent that they relate to the deficit and the resulting expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The total cost charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income is £14,971k (2015: £22,564k).  

The latest available full actuarial valuation of the scheme was at 31 March 2014 (“the valuation date”), which was carried out using 
the projected unit method.    

 Since the institution cannot identify its share of the scheme assets and liabilities, the following disclosures reflect those relevant for 
the scheme as a whole.    

 The 2014 valuation was the third valuation for USS under the scheme-specific funding regime introduced by the Pensions Act 
2004, which requires schemes to adopt a statutory funding objective, which is to have sufficient and appropriate assets to cover 
their technical provisions.  At the valuation date, the value of the assets was £41.6 billion and the value of the scheme’s technical 
provisions was £46.9 billion indicating a shortfall of £5.3 billion. The assets therefore were sufficient to cover 89% of the benefits 
which had accrued to members after allowing for expected future increases in earnings. 



40      Lancaster University Financial Statements 2016

23 University pension schemes (continued)

Universities Superannuation Scheme (continued)

Defi ned benefi t liability numbers for the scheme have been produced using the following assumptions:

 2016 2015

Discount rate 3.6% 3.3%

Pensionable salary growth n/a 3.5% in the fi rst year and  
  4.0% thereafter

Pension increases (CPI) 2.2% 2.2%   
 

The main demographic assumption used relates to the mortality assumptions.  Mortality in retirement is assumed to be in line with 
the Continuous Mortality Investigation’s (CMI) S1NA tables as follows:

  Male members’ mortality 98% of S1NA [“light] YoB tables - No age rating

  Female members’ mortality 99% of S1NA [“light”] YoB tables - rated down 1 year

Use of these mortality tables reasonably refl ects the actual USS experience. To allow for further improvements in mortality rates the 
CMI 2014 projections with a 1.5% pa long term rate were also adopted.  The current life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are:

 2016 2015

Males currently aged 65 (years) 24.3 24.2

Females currently aged 65 (years) 26.5 26.4

Males currently aged 45 (years) 26.4 26.3

Females currently aged 45 (years) 28.8 28.7

 2016 2015

Scheme assets £49.8bn £49.1bn

Total scheme liabilities £58.3bn £60.2bn

FRS 102 total scheme defi cit £8.5bn £11.1bn

FRS 102 total funding level 85% 82%

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016
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Lancashire County Pension Fund

The University operates a fi nal salary defi ned benefi t pension scheme that non-academic employees of the University can 
participate in, called the Lancashire County Pension Fund. The scheme is externally funded and is contracted out of the State 
Second Pension (S2P) of pension provision.

The last formal triennial actuarial valuation (for which the results are known) of the scheme was performed as at 31 March 2013 by a 
professionally qualifi ed actuary. The University is awaiting the results of the 31 March 2016 valuation.

During the accounting period, the University paid contributions to the pension scheme at the rate of 12.4% of pensionable salaries 
with additional contributions towards the defi cit recovery plan of £659k.

Assumptions

The fi nancial assumptions used to calculate scheme liabilities under FRS 102 are:

    At 31 July At 31 July 
    2016 2015
    %pa %pa

Price Infl ation (CPI)    1.7 2.2
Rate of increases in salaries    3.2 3.7
Rate of increase of pensions in payment for LCPF members   1.8 2.2 
Discount rate    2.5 3.8

The most signifi cant non-fi nancial assumption is the assumed length of longevity. The table below shows the life expectancy 
assumptions used in the accounting assessments based on the life expectancy of male and female members at age 65.

     Male (years)  Female (years)
  Pensioner  Non-pensioner Pensioner  Non-pensioner 
   (currently  (currently 
   aged 45)  aged 45)

At 31 July 2015  22.9 25.1 25.4 27.8

At 31 July 2016  23.0 25.2 25.6 27.9

Scheme assets and expected rate of return for the Lancashire County Pension Fund

The expected return on assets has been derived as the weighted average of the expected returns from each of the main asset 
classes (i.e. equities and bonds). The expected return for each asset class refl ects a combination of historical performance analysis, 
the forward looking views of the fi nancial markets (as suggested by the yields available) and the views of investment organisations.

The assets in the scheme (of which the University’s share is estimated at 1.8%) and the expected returns were:

    Fair value as at:
   31 July 2016 31 July 2015 31 July 2014
   £000 £000 £000

Equities   2,484,296 2,005,864 2,595,831
Government bonds   - 320,705 10,446
Other bonds   160,900 151,606 1,389,318
Property   611,420 530,621 501,408
Cash   225,260 75,803 125,352
Other   2,954,124 2,746,401 600,645

   6,436,000 5,831,000 5,223,000 
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23 University pension schemes (continued)

Lancashire County Pension Fund (continued)

   Consolidated and University
    Year Ended) Year Ended) 
    31 July 2016) 31 July 2015) 
Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheet for the Lancashire County Pension Fund £000) £000)

Scheme assets    125,247) 104,239)
Scheme liabilities    (168,582) (134,715)

Deficit in the scheme - net pension liability    (43,335) (30,476)
recorded within pension provisions (Note 20)  

Current service cost    (5,634) (4,680)
Settlements, curtailments and administration expenses    (144) (1)

Total operating charge    (5,778) (4,681)

 Analysis of the amount charged to interest payable / credited to other finance income 

Interest cost    3,963) (5,076)
Expected return on assets    (5,042) 5,349)

Net (charge) to other finance costs / credit to finance income   (1,079) 273)

Analysis of other comprehensive income 

Gain on assets    15,815) 4,842)
Experience loss on liabilities    (25,611) (10,505)

Total other comprehensive income    (9,796) (5,663)

History of experience gains and losses 31 July 2016 31 July 2015 31 July 2014 31 July 2013 31 July 2012

Difference between actual and expected  
return on scheme assets:

Amount (£m) 15,815 4,842 (4,160) 8,487 (2,537)
% of assets at end of year 12.6 4.6 (4.5) 9.4 (3.3)

Experience (gains) / losses on      
scheme liabilities:

Amount (£m) (25,611) (10,505) 7,063 (1,320) (5,058)
% of liabilities at end of year (15.2) (7.8) 6.1 (1.1) (4.7)

      
      
   

      
      
   

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016
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Lancashire County Pension Fund (continued)

   Consolidated and University
    Year Ended) Year Ended) 
    31 July 2016) 31 July 2015) 
Analysis of movement in the deficit for the Lancashire County Pension Fund  £000) £000)

Deficit at beginning of year    (30,476) (23,994)

Contributions or benefits paid by the University    3,794) 3,589)
Current service cost    (5,634) (4,680)
Settlements and curtailments    (46) (1)
Administration expenses    (98) -)
Other finance (charge) / credit    (1,079) 273)
Loss recognised in other comprehensive income    (9,796) (5,663)

Deficit at end of year    (43,335) (30,476)

Analysis of movement in the present value of scheme liabilities   £000) £000)

Present value at start of the year    (134,715) (116,182)

Current service cost (net of member contributions)    (5,634) (4,680)
Interest on scheme liabilities    (5,042) (5,076) 
Actual member contributions (including notional contributions)   (1,540) (1,506)
Settlements and curtailments    (46) (1) 
Actuarial loss     (25,611) (10,505)
Actual benefit payments    4,006) 3,235)

Present value of the Lancashire County Pension Fund liabilities at the end of the year  (168,582) (134,715)

Analysis of movement in the fair value of scheme assets   £000) £000)

Fair value of assets at the start of the year    104,239) 92,188)

Expected return on assets    3,963) 5,349)
Actuarial gain on assets    15,815) 4,842)
Actual contributions paid by the University    3,794) 3,589)
Actual member contributions     1,540) 1,506)
Administration expenses    (98) -) 
Actual benefit payments    (4,006) (3,235)

Fair value of scheme assets at the end of the year    125,247) 104,239)

   Consolidated and University
    At 31 July) At 31 July) 
    2016) 2015)
24 Capital and other commitments    £000) £000)

Provision has not been made for the following capital commitments at 31 July:

Commitments contracted at 31 July    10,866) 30,468)
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25 Related party transactions

Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of the Council (including members drawn from the local public 
and private sector organisations) it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of the Council 
may have an interest and these are reported as required in each case via the Register of Interests that is annually updated.

All transactions involving organisations in which a member of the Council may have an interest are conducted at arm’s length and in 
accordance with the University’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures.

The following transactions were identified for disclosure under Section 33 of FRS 102: Related Party Transactions.

    Receipts Payments
    2015/16 2015/16
    £000 £000

All Party Parliamentary University Group    - 1
Association of Heads of University Administration    - 2
Bank of England     1 -
Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust    81 -
Cumbria County Council    60 -
Cumbria County History Trust    15 -
EPSRC    7,420 -
Eversheds    - 88
Graduate Prospects    - 1
HEFCE    33,161 -
Higher Education Careers Service Unit    5 -
Higher Education Statistics Agency    - 56
House of Lords and EU Select Committee    3 -
Hybrid Instruments Ltd    8 50
JISC    - 409
Laing Wallace Associates    3 -
Lancaster Girls’ Grammar School    1 -
Plant Biosciences Ltd    178 -
PricewaterhouseCoopers    2 143
University Hospitals Morecambe Bay NHS    221 -
UUK    - 35

 
In addition, the President of the Lancaster University Students’ Union (LUSU) is an ex-officio member of the University’s Council. 
Grants payable to LUSU are detailed below:

     
   Consolidated and University
    Year Ended Year Ended 
    31 July 2016 31 July 2015 
    £000 £000

Block grant    810 776
Specific grants    1,001 933

    1,811 1,709

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016
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26 Interest in subsidiary companies

The following information relates to the University’s interests in the subsidiary companies consolidated in the financial statements.  
All companies have a financial year-end of 31 July.

Name of company Country of Nature of business Percentage 
 registration  of voting 
   rights held by   
   University

Lancaster University Business Enterprise Ltd England Exploitation of Intellectual Property 100 *
Lancaster University Consultancy Services Ltd England Provision of consultancy services 100 *
Lancaster University Energy Services Ltd England Provision of energy supplies 100 *
Lancaster University Network Services Limited England Provision of broadband internet connections 100 
The Work Foundation Alliance Limited England Independent authority on work and its future 100 *
Lancaster University Enterprises Ltd England Holding company 100
Lancaster University Developments Limited England Dormant 100
Landec Ltd England Dormant 100 *
Pinecrest Developments Ltd England Dormant 100 

*  The companies marked with an asterisk are wholly owned by Lancaster University Enterprises Limited. 

27 Post balance sheet events

No additional significant post balance sheet events have occurred that would require additional adjustment or disclosure in the 
financial statements, over and above those already disclosed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016

28 Transition to FRS 102 and the 2015 SORP

As explained in the accounting policies, these are the University’s first financial statements prepared in accordance with FRS 102 
and the SORP. The accounting policies have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2016, 
the comparative information for the year ended 31July 2015 and in the preparation of an opening FRS 102 Statement of Financial 
Position at 1 August 2014. In preparing its Statement of Financial Position, the University had adjusted amounts previously reported 
in its financial statements. An explanation of how the transition to FRS 102 and the SORP has affected the University’s financial 
position and financial performance is set out in the following tables.

Consolidated Balance Sheet
   1 August 2014   31 July 2015 
  2007 SORP Effect of 2015 SORP) 2007 SORP Effect of 2015 SORP
   transition to   transition to
   2015 SORP   2015 SORP

 Notes £000) £000 £000) £000)  £000 £000)

Non-current assets 
Fixed assets 1 274,403) 69,061) 343,464) 306,092) 70,377) 376,469)
Heritage assets 2 700) 300) 1,000) 1,000) -) 1,000)
Investments 3 446) 1,471) 1,917) 37) 1,451) 1,488)

  275,549) 70,832) 346,381) 307,129) 71,828) 378,957)

Endowment assets 3 5,466) (5,466) -) 5,428) (5,428) -)

Current assets
Stock  417 - 417) 369) - 369)
Trade and other receivables  16,635) - 16,635) 16,562) - 16,562)
Investments 4 800) 17,000) 17,800) 1,385) 17,000) 18,385)
Cash and cash equivalents 3,4 51,201) (13,005) 38,196) 51,235) (13,023) 38,212)
  69,053) 3,995) 73,048) 69,551) 3,977) 73,528)

Less: Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year 5 (52,279) (2,365) (54,644) (54,632) (2,957) (57,589)

Net current assets  16,774) 1,630) 18,404) 14,919) 1,020) 15,939)

Total assets less current liabilities  297,789) 66,996) 364,785) 327,476) 67,420) 394,896)

Creditors: amounts falling due after 6 (78,550) 3,966) (74,584) (88,491) 3,853) (84,638)
more than one year

Provisions

Provisions for liabilities   (2,721) 1,840) (881) (4,853) 1,990) (2,863)
Pension liability 7 (23,994) (13,083) (37,077) (30,476) (25,535) (56,011)

Total net assets   192,524) 59,719) 252,243) 203,656) 47,728) 251,384)
    
Deferred capital grants 8 78,725) (78,725) -) 84,558) (84,558) -)

Restricted Reserves   
Endowment and donation reserve   5,466) -) 5,466) 5,428) - 5,428) 
Unrestricted Reserves
Income and expenditure reserve   91,096) 155,681) 246,777) 98,465) 147,491) 245,956)
Revaluation reserve 1 17,237) (17,237) -) 15,205) (15,205) -)

  113,799) 138,444) 252,243) 119,098) 132,286) 251,384)
    
Total Reserves  192,524) 59,719) 252,243) 203,656) 47,728) 251,384)
    

)
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Notes:

1)  The University has opted to carry out a one-off revaluation of land and buildings at 1 August 2014 which forms the basis of 
deemed cost on transition. The balance on the revaluation reserve has consequently been released.

2)  Heritage assets were also revalued at the transition date. 

3)  Endowment asset investments have been reclassified to non-current and current asset investments.

4)  Bank term deposits with a maturity date of more than three months at the time of placement are now disclosed as current asset 
investments.

5)  A holiday pay accrual has been recognised for the first time on transition to FRS 102. In addition, a deferred income creditor has 
been released as the University has no outstanding obligations in respect of this credit balance. 

6)  The long-term portion of the deferred income creditor (see 5 above) has similarly been released.

7)  The University has recognised a liability for its share of the deficit recovery contributions for the Universities Superannuation 
Scheme.

8)  The University has adopted the performance model for capital grants and released the balance previously held for deferred 
capital grants.       
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28 Transition to FRS 102 and the 2015 SORP (continued)

University Balance Sheet
    1 August 2014   31 July 2015 
  2007 SORP Effect of 2015 SORP 2007 SORP Effect of 2015 SORP
   transition to   transition to
   2015 SORP   2015 SORP

 Notes £000) £000 £000) £000)  £000 £000)

Non-current assets 
Fixed Assets 1 272,732) 68,849) 341,581) 304,495) 70,178) 374,673)
Heritage assets 2 700) 300) 1,000) 1,000) -) 1,000)
Investments 3 9,806) 1,471) 11,277) 9,397) 1,451) 10,848)

  283,238) 70,620) 353,858) 314,892) 71,629) 386,521)

Endowment assets 3 5,466) (5,466) -) 5,428) (5,428) -)

Current assets
Stock  410) -) 410) 363) -) 363)
Trade and other receivables  19,935) -) 19,935) 20,127) -) 20,127)
Investments 4 800) 17,000) 17,800) 1,385) 17,000) 18,385)
Cash and cash equivalents 3,4 51,113) (13,005) 38,108) 51,138) (13,022) 38,116)

  72,258) 3,995) 76,253) 73,013) 3,978) 76,991)

Less: Creditors: amounts falling         
due within one year 5 (61,652) (2,364) (64,016) (64,144) (2,957) (67,101)

Net current assets  10,606) 1,631) 12,237) 8,869) 1,021) 9,890)

Total assets less current liabilities  299,310) 66,785) 366,095) 329,189) 67,222) 396,411)

Creditors: amounts falling due after 6 (78,170) 3,966) (74,204) (88,173) 3,853) (84,320)
more than one year

Provisions

Provisions for liabilities   (2,721) 1,840) (881) (4,853) 1,990) (2,863)
Pension liability 7 (23,994) (13,083) (37,077) (30,476) (25,535) (56,011)

Total net assets   194,425) 59,508) 253,933) 205,687) 47,530) 253,217)

Deferred capital grants 8 78,725) (78,725) -) 84,558) (84,558) -)

Restricted Reserves 
Endowment and donation reserve -   5,466) -) 5,466) 5,428) - 5,428)
Unrestricted Reserves
Income and expenditure reserve -   95,001) 153,466) 248,467) 102,499) 145,290) 247,789)
Revaluation reserve 1 15,233) (15,233) -) 13,201) (13,201) -) 
  115,700) 138,233) 253,933) 121,128) 132,089) 253,217)

Total Reserves  194,425) 59,508) 253,933) 205,686) 47,531) 253,217)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016
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Notes:

1)  The University has opted to carry out a one-off revaluation of land and buildings at 1 August 2014 which forms the basis of 
deemed cost on transition. The balance on the revaluation reserve has consequently been released.

2)  Heritage assets were also revalued at the transition date. 

3)  Endowment asset investments have been reclassified to non-current and current asset investments.

4)  Bank term deposits with a maturity date of more than three months at the time of placement are now disclosed as current asset 
investments.

5)  A holiday pay accrual has been recognised for the first time on transition to FRS 102. In addition, a deferred income creditor has 
been released as the University has no outstanding obligations in respect of this credit balance. 

6)  The long-term portion of the deferred income creditor (see 5 above) has similarly been released.

7)  The University has recognised a liability for its share of the deficit recovery contributions for the Universities Superannuation 
Scheme.

8)  The University has adopted the performance model for capital grants and released the balance previously held for deferred 
capital grants.       
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 July 2016

28 Transition to FRS 102 and the 2015 SORP (continued)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  2007 STRGL  Effect of 2015 SORP) 
  SORP Items* transition to
    2015 SORP

 Notes £000) £000) £000 £000)

Income 
Tuition fees and education contracts  116,174) -) - 116,174)
Funding body grants 1 30,116) -) 370 30,486)
Research grants and contracts 2 33,038) -) 6,388 39,426)
Other income  3 48,962) -) 18,833 67,795)
Investment income  790) -) - 790)

Total income before donations and endowments  229,080) -) 25,591 254,671)

Donations and endowments 4 192) -) 705 897)

Total income  229,272) -) 26,296 255,568)

Expenditure

Staff costs  5 122,685) -) 13,861 136,546)
Other operating expenses 4 73,738) -) 19,232 92,970)
Depreciation  6 18,462) -) (1,318) 17,144)
Interest and other finance costs 7 3,364) -) 266 3,630)

Total expenditure  218,249) -) 32,041 250,290) 

Surplus before other gains and losses  11,023) - (5,745 ) 5,278)

Loss on investments  - (21) - (21)

Surplus before tax  11,023) (21) (5,745) 5,257)

Taxation  (453)  - - (453)

Surplus after tax  10,570) (21) (5,745 ) 4,804)

Actuarial loss in respect of pension scheme  - (5,663) - (5,663)

Total comprehensive income for the year  10,570 (5,684) (5,745 ) (859) 

* This column represents items that were previously recorded within the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses (STRGL)  
and are now recorded within the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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Notes:

1)  The University has adopted the performance model for capital grants and the movement on transition relates to the value of the 
new funding council grants less the amount previously released as a deferred grant.

2)  Following the adoption of the performance model, non funding council research related capital grants are now reported within 
research income.

3)  Under the service concession arrangements with Universities Partnership Programme (UPP) in respect of certain residential 
accommodation, the University now recognises all rental income and expenditure flows through the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

4)  All income from endowments and donations is now disclosed through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

5)  Staff costs have increased due to the requirement to account for USS pension changes (including periodic revaluations) in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Furthermore, certain UPP staff costs are now also included within the statement.

6)  The asset lives of buildings were reassessed on revaluation resulting in an overall reduction to the annual depreciation charge.

7)  A proportion of the USS pension changes (see 5 above) is disclosed under interest payable.
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